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About Innophos
Innophos is a leading North American producer of specialty phosphate products, offering 
performance-critical ingredients with applications in food and beverage, pharmaceutical,  
oral care and industrial end markets. With over a century of experience, Innophos has 
developed the expertise to produce complex phosphates to the highest standards of quality 
and consistency demanded by customers worldwide. The Company continues to improve its 
market leadership by developing new and innovative phosphate-based products to address 
specific customer applications and supports these high-value products with industry-leading 
technical service.



Second highest ever sales and income

Over 50% of sales were in high-value food & beverage, pharmaceutical and oral care applications

Increased presence in high-growth geographies outside North America

Strengthened market-leading position in low sodium alternatives, driving future growth

Achieved major milestones in transforming supply chain capability and flexibility

Reduced net debt by more than half to $114 million

 

Innophos Achievements 2009 

Our Vision 

To be the most successful, most competitive and 
first choice specialty phosphates company in the world.



Dear Fellow Innophos Investors:

I am very proud to report to you that we have navigated successfully 
through the volatility of the last two years, and emerged with our 
business substantially stronger. I have great confidence in our ability 
to continue to deliver strong results this year and beyond. We  
successfully overcame major challenges in 2009 and delivered 
strong performance, with sales, operating income and net income 
second only to the Company’s historic results of 2008. 

Higher margin products helped Innophos achieve 
strong results in a challenging environment 
We faced significant challenges in 2009. High costs for phosphate 
rock used in Mexico limited our ability to compete in some markets.  
The global economic downturn affected demand across our busi-
ness, and falling market prices for commodity phosphates required 
us to respond with reductions in our own selling prices. Despite these 
challenges, we remained focused on investing in the future, with an 
emphasis on the higher margin products and higher value market 
application segments, and continued to enhance our longer term 
supply chain capability both through diversified raw material supply 
and manufacturing flexibility. While 2009 brought reduced demand 
and increased competition to low-margin products, the core of our 
business, specialty phosphates, performed very well. 

It is clear from 2009 results that the long-term strategy to focus on 
improving our capability in core specialty phosphate salts and  
acids products is working, both in North America and beyond.  
Over 50 percent of our sales were to the value-added food and 

beverage, pharmaceutical and oral care markets, versus just  
30 percent historically, demonstrating the strength of these important 
and stable consumer-facing markets. 

In 2009 we began to increase production capacity and capability 
in Mexico to support targeted growth in new geographic markets 
for value-added food grade specialty salts and acids, and that 
effort will continue in 2010. In the United States and Canada 
we continued to increase our ability to offer high-margin products 
through selective de-bottlenecking. Supporting high product qual-
ity with strong service levels set our offering apart, as the results 
demonstrate. Our core business selling prices for the fourth quarter 
2009 were approximately 40 percent higher than those of the fourth 
quarter 2007. 

Our Mexican business was the most affected by the challenges 
described above, with the impact most apparent on the profitability 
of our fertilizer co-products. In 2008 these products (primarily granu-
lated triple superphosphate, or GTSP) generated gross profit of  
$74 million, while in 2009 they recorded a loss of $10 million. 
Profits in Mexico on detergent grade products were also sharply 
down, partly a result of the factors already noted. In addition, the 
business suffered a substantial reduction in sales of detergent grade 
acid to a major Mexican customer following the shut down of more 
than half their detergent grade sodium tripolyphosphate (STPP) 
capacity. It was therefore a significant achievement that our Mexican 
operation remained profitable in 2009. 

This was only achieved through an organi-
zation-wide focus on cost reduction. We ex-
ceeded our initial targets with the support of 
the entire workforce. Meanwhile, we made 
significant investments to secure future profit-
ability by preparing to move from being a 
single to a multiple source user of phosphate 
raw materials in Mexico. The testing and 
facility adaptation planning begun in 2009 
put us on track to realize the full transition in 
2010. We also upgraded the food grade 
capability of our main Mexican production 
site at Coatzacoalcos, increasing its ability 
to produce higher value specialty salts and 
acids while reducing the capacity dedicated 



to the more commodity-like detergent grade phosphoric acid.  
Combining an enhanced food grade production ability with diversi-
fied sourcing is helping the Mexican facility to become a more 
integral part of our overall North American supply chain. This can 
benefit the whole company in the longer term. 

Progress toward a more flexible and diverse  
supply chain
Following year end, we settled the arbitration with our rock supplier. 
With prices agreed upon through September 2010, the Mexican 
operating segment was profitable again in the first quarter of 2010, 
and we have made progress in restoring our market position in 
specialty products supplied by the Mexican business. Further, we 
are working to establish new 
phosphate supply relationships 
with multiple sources that are 
more closely linked to market 
prices. Eliminating these supply 
chain constraints is enabling us to 
advance our plans for expansion 
outside North America, particularly in Latin America. 

Maintaining the right capital balance
In response to the challenges of 2009, we focused on disciplined 
cash use while closely managing costs, balancing uses of cash 
including debt repayment, dividends and targeted capital spending. 
We ended the year with $132 million of cash and cash equiva-
lents, enabling us to reduce debt and continue to make dividend 
payments as we improved the Company’s core product margins. 
Net debt fell from $257 million at the end of 2008 to $114 million 
at the end of 2009. We also retired a $73 million term loan and 
established a new $65 million, four-year revolving credit facility, 
giving us no debt maturities before 2013. We retired $10 million 
face value of the Company’s unsecured notes during the year when 
prices were advantageous and redeemed the remaining $56 million 
of the unsecured notes in April 2010.

We prioritized outlays on the most strategically important  
capital investments, keeping spending at $20 million, including:  
de-bottlenecking U.S. and Canadian specialty salts units that serve 
the highest margin markets; initiating the Coatzacoalcos, Mexico 

facilities upgrade to food grade; launching an Enterprise Resource 
Planning (ERP) project with a focus on supply chain efficiency; and 
conducting limited evaluation of recently acquired Mexican mining 
concessions. 

We expect capital expenditures of approximately $35 million 
during 2010 to continue the projects described above, with a few 
additions. Operationally, we will continue to strengthen our ability to 
service high-value customer applications and improve research and 
development and technical service capability to maintain our leader-
ship in these core product areas. Also, we will support geographic 
growth through an increased presence in developing markets,  
improved distribution channels and a greater focus on servicing 
these international customers.

Finally, we will continue to balance 
the use of cash for operational  
and corporate purposes. We plan 
to maintain our strengthened  
balance sheet while continuing to 
pay dividends and invest in the 
parts of our business that have the 

greatest profitability and growth potential. We have the flexibility 
to target and support strategically appropriate acquisitions, most 
likely of the “bolt-on” variety, to supplement our growth in our core 
business. 

First quarter 2010 performance has confirmed the improving volume 
trends seen in the second half of 2009. Mexico is contributing to 
profitability again, and we expect that pricing has stabilized and 
should improve moderately in the near term. Therefore, we are  
confident we can continue to deliver strong results in 2010. 

To close, I want to thank our employees, our customers and our 
stakeholders, all of whom are helping us to achieve our vision:  
to be the most successful, most competitive and first choice specialty 
phosphates company in the world. 

Randy Gress 
Chief Executive Officer & Chairman

April 29, 2010

While 2009 brought reduced demand and 

increased competition to low-margin products, 

the core of our business, specialty phosphates, 

performed very well. 



Functional benefit: 

Flavorful baked goods with reduced  

sodium and extra calcium  

Calcium phosphate

It won’t rise 
without Innophos

Markets and Applications
Since becoming a public company, Innophos has consistently focused 
on increasing its capability and sales into high-value, consumer- 
oriented applications and high-performance industrial applications 
where its specialty phosphates create sustainable value.

This approach was rewarded in 2009, when the food and bever-
age, pharmaceutical and oral care end markets represented over 
50 percent of sales, compared with a third of sales three years ago.

Overall Innophos is the number one North American specialty 
phosphate supplier to these high-value end markets, with long-lasting 
customer relationships built on a world-leading product range with 
excellent brand recognition.

Ingredients that enable customer success 
On the sidebars of these pages you will see some examples of 
customer products that have Innophos specialty phosphates as a key 
ingredient. Innophos products tend to be a small percentage of 
customers’ overall product cost, yet they are essential to end product 
performance. These products are supported by research and develop-
ment (R & D) and technical service that are the most competitive in the 
specialty phosphate industry. These technical service and R & D capa-
bilities were further strengthened in 2009 and, as a result, Innophos 
scientists are increasingly working as part of customers’ teams. For 
example, they have been helping major food companies adapt their 
end products to meet changing consumer needs. 

In addition to its experience and success with established products  
in the core territories of the United States, Canada and Mexico, 
Innophos is aiming to improve long-term growth in two ways:  
by increasing its capability in new regions and by developing and 
marketing a new high-value product range that supports customers 
in meeting consumer trends.

2006 2009



In 2009 the U.S.-based National Salt Reduction Initiative was estab-
lished to help food manufacturers and restaurants voluntarily reduce 
the amount of sodium in their products, with the goal of reducing 
sodium in Americans’ diets by 20 percent over the next five years. 
Innophos works with its customers to achieve lower sodium levels 
while maintaining important product characteristics such as texture, 
functionality and appearance, without sacrificing taste. 

For example, producing finished baked goods that have significantly 
reduced levels of sodium is a definite competitive advantage for  
today’s bakers. That’s why in 2009, Clabber Girl, a leading 
producer of leavening systems for the home, foodservice and com-
mercial baker, introduced InnovaFree™, a new sodium free baking 
powder. InnovaFree Baking Powder was developed in conjunction 
with Innophos, Inc. incorporating CAL-RISE®, the no-sodium, calcium-
fortified leavening agent. Products like these allow bakers to reduce 
sodium levels in finished goods such as cakes, muffins and biscuits 
by as much as 50 percent.

Other current product offerings include Curavis® So-Lo 93 for  
meats and poultry products, and an array of phosphate blends  
for cheese applications. 

Increased presence in developing markets
During 2009 Innophos increased its focus on high-growth, develop-
ing markets such as Latin America and the Asia Pacific region where 
a rapidly growing middle class is leading to increased demand for 
convenience foods such as ready-to-use baking mixes and pack-
aged meat and seafood products. Management expects that a com-
bination of its product and application expertise and industry-leading 
technical service, together with increased local presence through 
distributor partners or direct sales, will, over time, allow Innophos 
to build strong relationships with global, regional and local custom-
ers operating in developing markets. Although the Company is still 
relatively early into its execution of this strategy, export sales 
of specialty phosphates have increased to 12 percent of total 
specialty phosphate revenues in 2009, with significant potential 
for future growth. 

Ingredients meeting consumer needs: sodium reduction 
Awareness of the health risks associated with excessive sodium 
intake, which include hypertension and increased risk of heart 
disease, has grown, and these risks are becoming a focus for  
consumers, consumer advocacy groups and medical associations. 

What Innophos products do 
Innophos products have a wide variety of applications. Below are some examples of the properties Innophos products bring to customer 
end products across a range of industries. In blue are the three product categories within the core specialty phosphate business. Details 
on co-products are shown in green. Percentages in section heads represent the category’s contribution to 2009 revenues.

Specialty Salts and Specialty Acids: 67%

Baking: 
Core ingredient in baking powder, enabling pancakes, cakes, muffins and  
biscuits to rise at rates tailored to specific product requirements

Meat & Seafood: 
Keep meat or seafood moist and tender during processing, storage and cooking

Processed Cheese: 
Control melting properties of cheese slices, blocks and shreds

Potatoes: 
Prevent unwanted discoloration during french fry manufacture

Beverage: 
Supply required minerals (calcium, phosphorus, magnesium and potassium) 
to a broad range of beverages, from soy milk to sports drinks

Pharmaceutical Excipients: 
Contribute essential minerals to nutritional supplements and through superior 
tableting performance allow for proper dosing of active ingredients

Oral care: 
Provide abrasive properties to enable cleaning without damage to enamel

Asphalt: 
Improve road durability under both high- and low-temperature conditions

Horticulture: 
Specialized soluble nutrients for drip irrigation

Fire Safety: 
Ingredient in fire extinguishers for effective rapid extinguishing of flame and 
hot glow 

Water treatment:
Prevent build-up of impurities in municipal and industrial water systems

Food & Technical Grade  
Purified Phosphoric Acid: 16%
Beverage: 
Provides tartness in colas without taste overtones

Water treatment: 
Prevents accumulation of potentially harmful impurities in municipal water

Metal treatment: 
Brightens aluminum finish

GTSP and Other: 5%

phosphate fertilizer:
Granulated Triple Superphosphate is a phosphate fertilizer particularly 
suitable for soybeans and vineyard cultivation

Detergent Grade Phosphoric Acid  
and Sodium Tripolyphosphate: 12% 
Detergents:
Ingredient in consumer-oriented laundry and automatic dishwasher detergents

Industrial Cleaning:
Detergent formulations with phosphate provide superior cleaning  
performance in challenging environments



Ingredients that allow mineral fortification  
of everyday foods
Innophos products allow customers to add essential minerals to 
a diverse range of food products including: dairy products, 
baked goods, desserts, coffee whiteners and creamers, batter and 
breadings, dietary supplements and the full spectrum of beverage 
applications from enhanced water beverages to soy milk. Innophos’ 
portfolio includes VersaCal® Clear for calcium fortification of clear 
beverages, VersaCal® MP for calcium fortification of milk and soy-
based beverages, VersaCal® DA for juice-based products and 
several potassium phosphates, essential electrolytes in sports and 
isotonic drinks, which offer hydration and mineral replacement.

Calcium and phosphorus for pharmaceutical products
According to the International Osteoporosis Foundation, osteoporosis 
affects an estimated 75 million people in Europe, USA and Japan. 
Clinical studies sponsored by Innophos indicate that both calcium 
and phosphorus are essential for developing healthier bones.*  
Innophos calcium phosphates are a leading ingredient in combined 
vitamin and mineral supplements. Calcium phosphates also offer 
tableting performance advantages that make them good excipients – 
the inactive binders – in over-the-counter or prescription drugs.

*“Calcium phosphates promoted significant improvement in bone mineralization and 
bone strength compared to calcium alone.” R.Shapiro and R.P. Heaney –  
Co-dependence of calcium and phosphorus for growth and bone development under 
conditions of varying deficiency. Bone; 2003;32:532-540

Supply Chain 
The quality and consistency of  
Innophos products are critical to their 
inclusion in customers’ branded  
formulations. Innophos’ high product 
quality, process capability and exact-
ing manufacturing standards allow 
customers to depend on Innophos 
ingredients in their trusted products. 

As a specialty phosphate producer,  
Innophos has world-leading capability 
in the production of purified phosphor-
ic acid and specialty salts and acids. 
Innophos produces purified phosphoric 
acid at facilities in Geismar, Louisiana 
and Coatzacoalcos, Mexico. The 
Company also purchases some  
additional purified phosphoric acid 
under a long-term supply agreement. 
Innophos sells a portion of its purified 
phosphoric acid directly to customers 

for consumer and industrial applications, but the majority is con-
sumed internally in the next stage of the value chain, producing high-
er value, technically differentiated, specialty phosphate salt and acid 
compounds that sustain higher margins and attractive returns. Finally, 
as a co-product of the purification process in Mexico, Innophos also 
produces and sells a commodity fertilizer product – granulated triple 
superphosphate (GTSP). 

Customers have long relied on Innophos for dependable supply in 
a changing environment. Innophos continues to make investments to 
improve the overall reliability and flexibility of its supply chain and to 
incrementally enhance its capability across the portion of its portfolio 
focused on higher value products.

The most significant investment in 2009 was in Mexico. Previously 
the majority of Mexico’s purified phosphoric acid was produced to 
detergent grade standards and subsequently converted by Innophos 
or other customers to sodium tripolyphosphate (STPP), a detergent 
ingredient. Expecting reduced demand for detergent grade acid 
and STPP globally, the Company began a significant program in 
2009 to increase Mexico’s food grade acid capability. By the first 
quarter of 2010, the Company had successfully doubled Mexico’s 
capability in food grade acid, providing important additional supply 
for its high-margin business expansion, as well as back-up capability 
to U.S. sources. The Mexican facility now has the potential to be the 
Company’s largest source of food grade acid.  

Phosphorus 
for bone health
Functional benefit: 

Calcium combined with phosphorus  

offers an ideal combination for  

bone health

Calcium phosphate



Innophos has already fully converted capacity in the United States 
and Canada from detergent grade production to higher value 
specialty products, and the completion of the Mexican food grade 
project has significantly reduced the amount of capacity dedicated 
to detergent grade products. 

A strategic focus on the supply chain 
In 2010 Innophos aims to complete the implementation of the 
Company’s new supply chain strategy. Significant milestones in 
this strategy were achieved in 2009, and the main 2010 goal is 
successfully transitioning from the current sole-sourced arrangement 
for phosphate rock supply to Mexico to a more flexible, lower risk, 

multiple-sourcing arrangement. The current rock supply contract will 
terminate in September 2010, and Innophos is advanced in putting 
new supply arrangements into place.

A second key goal for 2010 is completion of the previously  
announced enterprise resource planning (ERP) project, which will 
provide a management and technology backbone for the  
company-wide supply chain improvements and support the new 
sourcing strategy.

Products
Specialty Salts and Specialty Acids 
Specialty salts and specialty acids serving consumer end markets are 
currently the most stable and highest value applications. The food 
and beverage, oral care and pharmaceutical end markets, as well 
as select high-performance industrial end markets, provided stable 
demand and strong margins, and in 2009 were the profitable core 
of Innophos‘ results. Sales 
revenue was down just two 
percent in 2009 versus 
2008, as these products 
continued to do well in 
market conditions that were 
more challenging to the 
Company’s less special-
ized products. Specialty 
salts and specialty acids 
are the primary area of  
focus for Innophos’ busi-
ness both within and 
outside North America.

Food and Technical 
Grade Acid 
Most of Innophos’ purified 
phosphoric acid is convert-
ed into specialty salts and 
specialty acids at dedicated facilities. Some food grade phosphoric 
acid is sold directly to customers for applications such as cola bever-
age production. In addition, technical grades of phosphoric acid 
are used in municipal water treatment and metal finishing. These 
markets were more affected by weak economic conditions in 2009, 
and sales revenue was down 29 percent from 2008.

Clear drinks are
healthier 
with Innophos
Functional benefit: 

Potassium phosphate is an  

essential electrolyte in sports  

and isotonic drinks that enables  

rehydration after exercise

Potassium phosphate
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STPP and Detergent Grade Acid
Detergent grade products include detergent grade phosphoric acid 
and STPP. Phosphates are very effective cleaning agents, in both 
laundry and automatic dishwasher detergents and in specialized 
industrial cleaning applications where high standards of cleanliness 
must be maintained in challenging conditions. In the United States 
and Canada, phosphates have largely been reformulated out of 
consumer-oriented detergents, but remain an important ingredient 
in industrial cleaning products. Sales of these products were down 
significantly in 2009, with a Mexican customer, formerly the 
Company’s largest, shutting more than half of their STPP capacity 
and significantly reducing the need for Innophos’ supply of detergent 
grade acid. Detergent-grade products now represent less than 12 
percent of Innophos’ total sales. While further reformulation is expect-
ed in the detergent industry, the effect on Innophos’ detergent grade 
products will be much reduced going forward.

Specialty Phosphates
Specialty phosphates comprise 
the following product categories: 
specialty salts and specialty acids; 
food and technical grade acid; 
and detergent grade acid and 
STPP. In 2009, specialty phos-
phates sales declined by 23 
percent and gross profit declined 
by 29 percent from record 2008 
levels. The decline came primar-
ily from the impact on Mexico of 
reduced detergent grade product 
sales and an uncompetitive raw 
material sourcing position. 

GTSP & Other 
Commodity fertilizer co-products, 

such as GTSP, produced a loss of $10 million in 2009, a result of 
low market prices and an uncompetitive phosphate rock sourcing 
position. This compares to the $74 million profit made in 2008, 
benefiting from high market prices and raw material costs that 
were partly fixed at lower 2007 levels. Both the 2009 loss and 
2008 profit were unusual outcomes for this product line, driven by 
conditions specific to those years. In all previous years, even in soft 
demand environments, Innophos commodity fertilizer co-products 

have made a positive gross profit contribution, improving somewhat 
in tight markets. Absent further unusual factors, historical patterns are 
expected to resume. Although they have generally been profitable, 
co-products are not part of the core of the Company’s business. 

Balance Sheet and  
Future Investment
Improving the balance sheet while  
investing for growth 
Innophos aims to continue improving its capital structure by seeking 
productive uses of cash. In 2009 the Company reduced net debt 
by more than 50 percent, paid a consistent dividend and improved 
Innophos’ production capacity to serve higher margin end markets 
through targeted capital spending. 

In 2010 and subsequent years Innophos expects to make additional 
investments targeted at increasing its presence in high-growth end 
markets and new geographic regions. Investments will include con-
tinued improvement of the Company’s manufacturing capability in 
high-value products. In addition, Innophos is reviewing a number of 
“bolt-on” acquisition opportunities to accelerate its growth strategy. 

Management also seeks to continue optimizing the cost and profile 
of the Company’s remaining debt facilities. Innophos is committed  
to maintaining a strong balance sheet and aims to continue to pay 
a dividend. 
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Claims and Legal Proceedings  

The categories of asserted or unasserted claims for which the Company has estimated a probable liability and for which amounts 
are estimable are critical accounting estimates. Please refer to Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information about such estimates.  

Deferred Taxes  
Deferred taxes are accounted for by recognizing deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of 

events that have been recognized in the financial statements. Accordingly, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on 
the differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in 
which the differences are expected to reverse.  

Deferred tax assets are assessed for recoverability and a valuation allowance is considered necessary if it is more likely than not 
that some portion or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. We continue to analyze our current and future profitability 
and probability of the realization of our net deferred tax assets in future periods. Please refer to Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional information regarding deferred taxes.  

Goodwill  
Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the fair value of net assets of the businesses acquired. ASC 350, 

“Intangibles—Goodwill and Other,” requires periodic tests of the impairment of goodwill. ASC 350 requires a comparison, at least 
annually, of the net book value of the assets and liabilities associated with a reporting unit, including goodwill, with the fair value of 
the reporting unit, which corresponds to the discounted cash flows of the reporting unit, in the absence of an active market. When this 
comparison indicates that impairment must be recorded, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
assets exceeds the fair value of these assets. The annual goodwill impairment review is conducted during the fourth quarter of each 
year.  

Fair values for goodwill testing are estimated using a discounted cash flow approach. Significant estimates in the discounted 
cash flow approach include the cash flow forecasts for each of our reporting units (Mexico, U.S. and Canada), the discount rate and 
the terminal value. The five year cash flow forecasts of the company’s reporting units is based upon management’s estimate at the date 
of the assessment, which incorporates managements long-term view of selling prices, sales volumes for Innophos’ products, key raw 
materials and energy costs, and our operating cost structure. The aggregated fair value of our reporting units was reconciled to our 
market capitalization at the date of the assessment, plus a suitable control premium. Our market capitalization during fourth quarter of 
2009 exceeded the book value of our equity. The terminal value was determined by applying business growth factors for each 
reporting unit which are in-line with longer term historical growth rates, to the latest year for which a forecast exists.  

Solely for the purpose of goodwill valuation for our Mexico reporting unit, the 2009 goodwill impairment analysis included 
estimates addressing changes in phosphate rock pricing, weakness in the markets served by those operations, loss of traditional 
business which in part is a result of the softness in the fertilizer markets, and operating the Coatzacoalcos, Mexico complex at 
substantially reduced levels. Our 2009 goodwill impairment analysis included: (i) for the first three quarters of 2010, assumed 
phosphate rock prices estimated to be below the 2009 price paid, trending towards an estimated market price; and (ii) for late 2010 and 
thereafter, assumptions that Mexico operations would return to an estimated market price for phosphate rock. The reporting unit’s cash 
flow model is estimated to be higher than 2009 levels, with improvement occurring as our phosphate rock price returns to market 
pricing in 2011. Revenue levels are estimated to have a slight recovery in 2011 and estimated to return to a historical growth rate of 
3% per annum in 2012. We applied operating margin percentages slightly below our historical trends and used a 3% growth rate to 
calculate the terminal value for our Mexican reporting unit. We used a 12% discount rate, which is above our weighted average cost of 
capital and consistent with our prior year goodwill impairment test. Based on this valuation, we determined that the fair values of our 
reporting units exceeded their carrying values and no goodwill impairment charge was required.  

As of December 31, 2009, the Mexican reporting unit had a carrying value, including goodwill, of approximately $187 million. 
The fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 15%. In addition, if we were to decrease the long-
term growth rate or increase the discount rate used in the calculation by 1%, there would still be no goodwill impairment for the 
Mexican reporting unit.  
  

Given the current economic environment and uncertainties surrounding the impact on our Mexican business of factors such as 
market conditions affecting our selling prices, sales volumes, and raw material costs and other factors not limited to those enumerated, 
we cannot be sure that the estimates and assumptions used in the goodwill impairment analysis will prove to be accurate predictions of 
the future. Significant changes in assumptions will influence the goodwill impairment analysis and may result in goodwill impairment 
charges in future periods.  
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Long-lived assets  

Under ASC 360,” Property, Plant, and Equipment,” long-lived assets including property, plant and equipment and amortized 
intangible assets are evaluated and reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of 
the carrying amount of the assets to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. When this 
comparison indicates that impairment must be recorded, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.  

The determination of whether or not assets are impaired and the corresponding useful lives of these long-lived assets requires 
significant judgment. The development of future cash flow projections requires management estimates related to forecasted sales and 
expected costs trends. To the extent that changes in business conditions occur or other management decisions are made that result in 
adjusted management projections or alternative use of the assets, impairment losses or accelerated depreciation may occur in future 
periods.  

In our Mexican operations, we continue to monitor changes in circumstances where the undiscounted cash flows would indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. The uncertainty in phosphate rock prices, volume 
decreases, sales price erosion, and the reduced operating rates for the Coatzacoalcos plant were included in management’s estimates 
and are consistent with management’s expectations. The carrying value of the Coatzacoalcos plant was approximately $84.2 million at 
December 31, 2009. The undiscounted cash flows of the STPP (Sodium Tripolyphosphate) asset group exceeded their carrying value 
by 31%, while the other asset groups exceeded their carrying values by significantly greater margins. The Company did not conduct 
an asset impairment test during the fourth quarter as there were no triggering events that warranted an impairment test.  

Stock-Based Compensation Expense  
Our compensation programs can include share-based payments. The primary share-based awards and their general terms and 

conditions currently in effect are as follows:  
•  Stock options, which entitle the holder to purchase, after the end of a vesting term, a specified number of shares of 

Innophos common stock at an exercise price per share set equal to the market price of Innophos common stock on the date 
of grant.  

•  Restricted stock grants, which entitle the holder to receive, at the end of each vesting term, a specified number of shares of 
Innophos common stock, and which also entitle the holder to receive dividends paid on such grants throughout the vesting 
period.  

•  Performance share awards which entitle the holder to receive, at the end of a vesting term, a number of shares of Innophos 
common stock, within a range of shares from zero to a specified maximum, calculated using a three year future average 
return on invested capital (i.e. the three year period 2008-2010 for a 2007 award) as defined solely by reference to the 
Company’s own activities. Dividends will accrue over the vesting period and are paid on performance share awards when 
fully vested.  

•  Annual stock retainer grants, which entitle independent members of the Board of Directors to receive a number of shares 
of the Company’s common stock equal to a fixed retainer value.  

  
The fair value of the options granted during 2009, 2008 and 2007 was determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model were as follows:  
  

    

Non-qualified stock options 
  

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2009  
  

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2008  
  

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2007  
  

Expected volatility   61.4%  36.8%  36.8%
Dividend yield   5.0%  4.6%  4.5%
Risk-free interest rate   2.7%  3.4%  4.2%
Expected term   6 years   6 years   6 years  
Weighted average grant date fair value of stock options  $ 6.19  $ 4.52  $ 3.97  

Prior to 2009, since Innophos Holdings, Inc. was a newly public entity and has limited historical data on the price of its publicly 
traded shares, the expected volatility for the valuation of its stock options and performance shares was based on peer group historical 
volatility data equaling the expected term. In 2009, the Company had chosen a blended volatility which consists of 50% average 
historical volatility of the peer group and 50% historical volatility of Innophos. The increase in the expected volatility in 2009 versus 
prior periods is a result of broader market conditions. The expected term for the stock options is based on the simplified method since 
the Company has limited data on the exercises of stock options. These stock options qualify as “plain vanilla” stock options. The 
dividend yield is the expected annual dividend payments divided by the average stock price up to the date of grant. The risk-free 
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interest rates are derived from the U.S. Treasury securities in effect on the date of grant whose maturity period equals the options 
expected term. The Company applies an expected forfeiture rate to stock-based compensation expense. The estimate of the forfeiture 
rate is based primarily upon historical experience of employee turnover. As actual forfeitures become known, stock-based 
compensation expense is adjusted accordingly.  

Pension and Post-Retirement Costs / Post-Employment Plan  
The Company maintains both noncontributory defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution plans that together cover 

all U.S. and Canadian employees.  

In the United States, salaried and hourly employees are covered by a defined contribution plan with a 401(k) feature. The plan 
provides for employee contributions, company matching contributions, and an age-weighted annual company contribution to eligible 
employees. Union-represented hourly employees, at our Nashville site, are covered by a traditional defined benefit plan providing 
benefits based on years of service and final average pay whose benefit accruals were frozen as of August 1, 2007, after which the 
Nashville union employees now participate in the Company’s existing non contributory defined contribution benefit plan. All plans 
were established by Innophos in 2004.  

In Canada, salaried employees are covered by defined contribution plans which provide for company contributions as a percent 
of pay, employee contributions, and company matching contributions. Union-represented hourly employees are covered by a defined 
benefit plan providing benefits based on a negotiated benefit level and years of service.  

Our pension and postretirement benefit costs are developed from actuarial valuations. Inherent in these valuations are key 
assumptions, including the discount rate and the expected long-term rate on plan assets. These assumptions require significant 
judgment and material changes in our pension and postretirement benefit costs may occur in the future due to changes in these 
assumptions, changes in levels of benefits provided, and changes in asset levels. Such assumptions are based on benchmarks obtained 
from third party sources.  

As a sensitivity measure, the effect of a 25 basis-point decrease in our discount rate assumption would increase our net periodic 
benefit cost for our pension and post-retirement plans by approximately $60. A 1% decrease in our expected rate of return on plan 
assets would increase our pension plan expense by $135.  
  

Recently Issued Accounting Standards  
New accounting standards effective in 2009 are described in the Recent Accounting Pronouncements section in Note 1 of Notes 

to Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  

ITEM  7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK  
We are exposed to certain market risks as part of our ongoing business operations. Primary exposures include changes in interest 

rates, as borrowings under our Loan Agreement will bear interest at floating rates based on LIBOR plus an applicable borrowing 
margin. We manage our interest rate risk by balancing the amount of fixed-rate and floating-rate debt to the extent practicable 
consistent with our credit status. For fixed-rate debt, interest rate changes do not affect earnings or cash flows. Conversely, for 
floating-rate debt, interest rate changes generally affect our earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant.  

At December 31, 2009, we had $246.0 million principal amount of fixed-rate debt and a $65.0 million revolving credit facility, 
of which we had $41.9 million available above the minimum excess availability requirements, which has not been drawn upon.  

Changes in economic conditions could result in higher interest rates, thereby increasing our interest expense and other operating 
expenses and reducing our funds available for capital investment, operations or other purposes. In addition, a substantial portion of our 
cash flow must be used to service debt, which may affect our ability to make future acquisitions or capital expenditures. We may from 
time to time use interest rate protection agreements to minimize our exposure to interest rate fluctuation. Regardless of hedges, we 
may experience economic loss and a negative impact on earnings or net assets as a result of interest rate fluctuations.  

We do not currently, but may from time to time, hedge our commodity, interest rate or currency rate risks.  

We believe that our concentration of credit risk related to trade accounts receivable is limited since these receivables are spread 
among a number of customers and are geographically dispersed. Our largest customer in 2008 represented 11.1% of that year’s sales, 
otherwise, no other customer accounted for more than 10% of our sales in the last 3 years.  
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rates  
The U.S. Dollar is the functional currency of the Canadian and Mexican operations. Accordingly, these operations’ monetary 

assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates, non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange 
rates, and revenue and expenses are translated at average exchange rates and at historical exchange rates for the related revenue and 
expenses of non-monetary assets and liabilities. All transaction gains and losses are included in net income.  

Our principal source of exchange rate exposure in our foreign operations consists of expenses, such as labor expenses, which are 
denominated in the foreign currency of the country in which we operate. A decline in the value of the U.S. Dollar relative to the local 
currency would generally cause our operational expenses (particularly labor costs) to increase (conversely, a decline in the value of the 
foreign currency relative to the U.S. Dollar would cause these expenses to decrease). We believe that normal exchange rate 
fluctuations consistent with recent historical trends would have a modest impact on our expenses, and would not materially affect our 
financial condition or results of operations. Nearly all of our sales are denominated in U.S. Dollars and our exchange rate exposure in 
terms of sales revenues is minimal.  

Inflation and changing prices  
Our costs and expenses will be subject to inflation and price fluctuations. Significant price fluctuations in raw materials, freight, 

and energy costs, if not compensated for by cost savings from production efficiencies or price increases passed on to customers could 
have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Refer to “Item 1A. Risk Factors” contained in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for further information on raw materials availability and pricing.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as 

“structured finance or special purpose entities”, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet 
arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Innophos Holdings, Inc:  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Innophos Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations 
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the 
accompanying index appearing under Item 15(b) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in 
conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s 
management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions 
on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinions.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Florham Park, New Jersey  
March 8, 2010  
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts, share amounts or where otherwise noted)  

  
   

  
December 31,  

  

  
2009  

  
2008  

  

ASSETS     

Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $132,451 $125,328 
Restricted cash   1,749  —   
Accounts receivable, net   56,345  79,541 
Inventories   113,636  145,310 
Other current assets   49,865  40,184 

      

Total current assets   354,046  390,363 
Property, plant and equipment, net   204,527  230,422 
Goodwill   51,706  51,706 
Intangibles and other assets, net   52,189  55,713 

      

Total assets  $662,468 $728,204 
      

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

Current liabilities:     

Current portion of long-term debt  $ —   $ 72,613 
Accounts payable, trade and other   21,379  26,359 
Other current liabilities   59,696  44,482 

      

Total current liabilities   81,075  143,454 
Long-term debt   246,000  309,887 
Other long-term liabilities   40,015  32,103 

      

Total liabilities  $367,090 $485,444 
      

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)     

Common stock, par value $.001 per share; authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 
21,333,940 and 21,091,399 shares   21  21 

Paid-in capital   100,066  95,571 
Retained earnings   197,541  149,192 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (2,250)  (2,024)

      

Total stockholders’ equity   295,378  242,760 
      

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $662,468 $728,204 
      

See notes to consolidated financial statements  
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Consolidated Statements of Operations  
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts, share amounts or where otherwise noted)  

  
    

  
Year Ended December 31,  

  

  
2009  

  
2008  

  
2007  

  

Net sales  $ 666,759  $ 934,758 $ 578,982 
Cost of goods sold   470,780   570,176  474,785 

        

Gross profit   195,979   364,582  104,197 
        

Operating expenses:       

Selling, general and administrative   67,151   63,417  54,441 
Research & Development Expenses   1,938   2,310  2,047 

        

Total operating expenses   69,089   65,727  56,488 
        

Operating income   126,890   298,855  47,709 
Interest expense, net   23,313   34,193  41,559 
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses   (769)  2,663  40 
Other income, net   —     (386)  (299)

        

Income before income taxes   104,346   262,385  6,409 
Provision for income taxes   41,202   55,202  11,896 

        

Net income (loss)  $ 63,144   207,183  (5,487)
        

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders  $ 63,141  $ 207,150 $ (5,487)
        

Per share data (see Note 12):        

Income (loss) per share:        

Basic  $ 2.97  $ 9.89 $ (0.27)
Diluted  $ 2.87  $ 9.54 $ (0.27)
Weighted average 

shares outstanding:        

Basic   21,258,536   20,956,566  20,676,859 
Diluted   21,968,904   21,718,537  20,676,859 

See notes to consolidated financial statements  
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  
(Dollars and shares in thousands)  

  
       

  

Number of
Common

Shares  
  

Common 
Stock  

  

Retained 
Earnings 
(Deficit)  

  

Paid-in 
Capital  

  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)  

  

Total 
Shareholders’

Equity  
  

Balance, December 31, 2006   20,270 $ 20 $ (45,288) $109,796  $ (3,816) $ 60,712 
Net loss  

    
 (5,487)

    
 (5,487)

Change in pension and post-retirement plans, 
(net of tax $243)           

 1,545  1,545 
              

Other comprehensive (loss), net of tax  
          

 (3,942)
Adjustment to initial public offering expenses 

      
 125  

  
 125 

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and 
restricted stock    597  1 

  
 950  

  
 951 

Share-based compensation  
      

 1,077  
  

 1,077 
Dividends declared ($0.68 per share)  

      
 (14,219 ) 

  
 (14,219)

              

Balance, December 31, 2007   20,867 $ 21 $ (50,775) $ 97,729  $ (2,271) $ 44,704 
              

Net income  
    

 207,183 
    

 207,183 
Change in pension and post-retirement plans, 

(net of tax $144)           
 247  247 

              

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 
          

 207,430 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and 

restricted stock    207 
    

 542  
  

 542 
Issuance of annual retainer stock to external 

Board of Directors   17 
        

 —   
Share-based compensation  

      
 3,467  

  
 3,467 

Excess tax benefits from exercise of stock 
options        

 1,108  
  

 1,108 
Dividends declared ($0.68 per share)  

    
 (7,216)  (7,275 ) 

  
 (14,491)

              

Balance, December 31, 2008   21,091 $ 21 $149,192 $ 95,571  $ (2,024) $ 242,760 
              

Net income  
    

 63,144 
    

 63,144 
Change in pension and post-retirement plans, 

(net of tax $109)           
 (226)  (226)

              

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 
          

 62,918 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and 

restricted stock    224 
    

 633  
  

 633 
Issuance of annual retainer stock to external 

Board of Directors   19 
        

 —   
Share-based compensation  

      
 3,367  

  
 3,367 

Excess tax benefits from exercise of stock 
options        

 495  
  

 495 
Dividends declared ($0.68 per share)  

    
 (14,795)

    
 (14,795)

              

Balance, December 31, 2009   21,334 $ 21 $197,541 $100,066  $ (2,250) $ 295,378 
              

See notes to consolidated financial statements  
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
(Dollars in thousands)  

  
    

  
Year Ended December 31,  

  

  
2009  

  
2008  

  
2007  

  

Cash flows from operating activities       

Net income (loss)  $ 63,144  $ 207,183 $ (5,487)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided from operating 

activities:        

Depreciation and amortization   51,186   52,507  47,486 
Amortization of deferred financing charges   3,130   2,726  4,643 
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)   1,867   (12,105)  (1,807)
Deferred profit sharing   (756)  (3,258)  800 
Stock based compensation   3,367   3,467  1,077 
Gain on retirement of bonds   (3,500)  —    —   

Changes in assets and liabilities:         

Increase in restricted cash   (1,749)  —    —   
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable   23,196   (19,462)  (3,763)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories   31,674   (66,582)  (8,159)
Increase in other current assets   (6,433)  (11,116)  (2,645)
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable   (4,980)  (10,085)  5,565 
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities   15,172   (934)  3,861 
Changes in other long-term assets and liabilities   (1,218)  453  1,870 

        

Net cash provided from operating activities   174,100   142,794  43,441 
        

Cash flows used for investing activities:       

Capital expenditures   (19,609)  (18,536)  (28,356)
Purchase of assets   —     —    (2,120)

        

Net cash used for investing activities   (19,609)  (18,536)  (30,476)
        

Cash flows from financing activities:       

Proceeds from exercise of stock options   633   542  950 
Proceeds from issuance of senior unsecured notes   —     —    66,000 
Principal payments of floating rate senior note   —     —    (60,800)
Principal payments of term-loan   (126,500)  (2,000)  (20,500)
Principal repayment of senior unsecured notes   (6,500)  —    —   
Deferred financing costs   (1,050)  —    (1,815)
Excess tax benefits from exercise of stock options   495   1,108  —   
Dividends paid   (14,446)  (14,241)  (12,899)

        

Net cash used for financing activities   (147,368)  (14,591)  (29,064)
        

Net change in cash   7,123   109,667  (16,099)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   125,328   15,661  31,760 

        

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 132,451  $ 125,328 $ 15,661 
        

See notes to consolidated financial statements  
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

 (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts, share amounts or where otherwise noted)  
 

The U.S. operations have Federal tax loss carry forwards of $12.4 million, which will expire in approximately 18 years, as of 
December 31, 2009. The loss carryforwards include $1.0 million related to windfall tax benefits which will be recorded in paid-in 
capital when realized. The Company realized tax benefits of $495 from stock options exercised during 2009.  

As of December 31, 2008, the U.S. operations no longer had cumulative losses and, after consideration of the positive and 
negative evidence including the sustainability of the positive earnings trend, the Company concluded that it was more likely than not 
that the net deferred tax assets will be utilized and as a result a $24.9 million benefit from the reversal of valuation allowances mainly 
as the result of the usage of our net operating loss carryforwards had been recorded. The Company still maintains a $5.7 million 
valuation allowance primarily related to certain State net operating loss carryforwards as it is more likely than not that these tax 
benefits will not be utilized. Pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, the annual utilization of the 
Company’s U.S. net operating loss carryforwards may be limited, if the Company experiences a change in ownership of more than 
50% within a three year period. As a result of the Company’s IPO, the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards available to offset 
future taxable income arising before the ownership change may be limited. The Company believes it experienced an ownership 
change on April 2, 2007 that limits the utilization of net operating losses to offset future taxable income. However, based on the 
Company’s current analysis, all remaining U.S. Federal net operating loss carryforwards will be able to be utilized by 2010.  

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, income taxes were not provided on unremitted earnings of $6,707, 
$130,921 and $23,809, respectively, as these earnings are expected to be permanently reinvested internationally.  

In the fourth quarter of 2009, both Mexico and Canada enacted new tax legislation which, among other provisions, modified the 
future tax rates in those jurisdictions. As a result, the Company recognized, in the income tax provision, the impact of this change in 
tax rates for its deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2009.  

The Company does not have any material uncertain income tax positions in accordance with ASC 740-10-25 (formerly FIN 48). 
If any material uncertain tax positions did arise, the Company’s policy is to accrue associated penalties in selling, general and 
administrative expenses and to accrue interest as part of net interest expense. All of the tax years since the Company’s inception in 
2004 are subject to examination by the Canadian, Mexican and United States revenue authorities. Currently, the Company is under 
examination, or has been contacted for examination, by certain foreign jurisdictions for its income tax returns for the years 2004 
through 2008. As of December 31, 2009, no significant adjustments have been proposed to the Company’s tax positions and the 
Company currently does not anticipate any adjustments that would result in a material change to its financial position. The Company 
does not anticipate that total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change prior to December 31, 2010.  

Income taxes paid were $49,705, $64,822 and $7,786 for 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  
  
16. Commitments and Contingencies:  

Leases  
Under agreements expiring through 2017, the Company leases railcars and other equipment under various operating leases. 

Rental expense for 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $5,140, $5,213 and $4,438, respectively. Minimum annual rentals for all operating leases 
are:  
  

  

Year Ending Lease Payments
  

2010  $ 4,113 
2011   3,688 
2012   2,824 
2013   2,690 
2014   2,246 
Thereafter   2,979 

Purchase Commitments and Supplier Concentration  
The Company has two raw material supply contracts, one with an initial term through 2018 with an automatic five-year renewal 

term at prices established annually based on a formula and the other through 2010. The minimum annual purchase obligations, at 
current prices, approximates $89.8 million for 2010.  

66



INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

 (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts, share amounts or where otherwise noted)  
 

Our business activities depend on long-term or renewable contracts to supply materials or products. In particular, we rely to a 
significant degree on single-source supply contracts and some of these contractual relationships may be with a relatively limited 
number of suppliers. Although most of our supplier relationships are typically the result of multiple contractual arrangements of 
varying terms, in any given year, one or more of these contracts may come up for renewal. In addition, from time to time, we enter 
into toll manufacturing agreements or other arrangements to produce minimum quantities of product for a certain duration. If we 
experience delays in delivering contracted production, we may be subject to contractual liabilities to the buyers to whom we have 
promised the products.  

Environmental  
The Company’s operations are subject to extensive and changing federal and state environmental laws and regulations. The 

Company’s manufacturing sites have an extended history of industrial use, and soil and groundwater contamination have or may have 
occurred in the past and might occur or be discovered in the future.  

Environmental efforts are difficult to assess for numerous reasons, including the discovery of new remedial sites, discovery of 
new information and scarcity of reliable information pertaining to certain sites, improvements in technology, changes in 
environmental laws and regulations, numerous possible remedial techniques and solutions, difficulty in assessing the involvement of 
and the financial capability of other potentially responsible parties and the extended time periods over which remediation occurs. 
Other than the items listed below, the Company is not aware of material environmental liabilities which are probable and estimable. 
As the Company’s environmental contingencies are more clearly determined, it is reasonably possible that amounts may need to be 
accrued. However, management does not believe, based on current information, that environmental remediation requirements will 
have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.  

Under the agreements by which the Company acquired the Phosphates Business and related assets, the Company has certain 
rights of indemnification from the sellers for breach of representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements. The 
indemnification rights relating to undisclosed environmental matters are subject to certain substantial limitations and exclusions and 
expired as of August 13, 2009.  

Future environmental spending is probable at our site in Nashville, TN, the eastern portion of which had been used historically 
as a landfill, and a western parcel previously acquired from a third party, which reportedly had housed, but no longer does, a fertilizer 
and pesticide manufacturing facility. We have an estimated liability with a range of $0.9-$1.2 million.  
  

The remedial action plan has yet to be finalized, and as such, the Company has recorded a liability, which represents the 
Company’s best estimate, of $1.1 million as of December 31, 2009.  

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, has indicated that compliance at facilities in the phosphate industry is a 
high enforcement priority. After several years of expressing various concerns (without issuing any notice of violation) about aspects of 
our Geismar, LA operations, in March 2008, we received a letter from the Department of Justice, or DOJ, indicating that EPA had 
referred the case for civil enforcement, contending, among other things, that we do not qualify for certain exemptions we have 
claimed, and alleging that we violate the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) at Geismar by failing to manage two 
materials appropriately. Although the letter stated that EPA/DOJ intended to seek unspecified penalties and corrective action, it 
proposed discussions to explore possible resolution, which we undertook and are pursuing. During the fourth quarter of 2008, the 
DOJ/EPA demanded that Innophos and its neighboring interconnected supplier, PCS, undertake certain “interim measures” to address 
DOJ/EPA’s chief environmental concerns. We and PCS have initiated joint technical efforts to explore solutions to the government 
concerns. Based on our contact with the agencies to date in 2009, we have determined it is probable that one of the process 
modifications will need to be undertaken in the next several months, and likewise probable that the capital expenditure and future 
operating expense of that modification will not be material, unless the DOJ adds terms and conditions that could result in the parties 
not reaching agreement. However, the second measure sought by DOJ/EPA has not yet been fully evaluated from a technological or 
cost standpoint. The companies have proposed to DOJ/EPA a schedule for such evaluation, and although the government has not 
formally approved the schedule, the companies are proceeding as proposed. Based upon work so far, there appears to be at least one 
technically viable approach, but costs of a full scale operation as compared to other approaches are not known at this time. Even 
though the companies have begun substantial technical work in an attempt to develop a feasible approach to address DOJ/EPA’s 
concerns, we cannot guarantee that our technical efforts will be successful, whether either party would be willing to implement 
solutions or, depending on those factors and the agencies’ position, whether this matter will be settled with DOJ/EPA or will require 
litigation. Should litigation become necessary to defend our operations at Geismar as compliant with environmental laws and 
regulations, no assurance can be given as to its outcome. We have determined that a contingent liability is neither probable nor 
estimable at this time, but liability is reasonably possible.  
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

 (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts, share amounts or where otherwise noted)  
 
Litigation  

OCP Arbitration  
In December 2008, Innophos’ Mexican affiliate, Innophos Mexico, initiated binding arbitration with OCP, S.A., or OCP, its sole 

supplier of phosphate rock for Mexico, concerning pricing terms for 2008 and 2009 under Innophos Mexico’s agreement with that 
supplier. A panel of three arbitrators sitting in Paris, France under auspices of the International Chamber of Commerce was selected to 
hear the case, and hearings on the 2008 and 2009 pricing issues were held in November 2009. On February 24, 2010, Innophos 
Mexico and OCP entered into agreements fully settling the arbitration, resolving disputes concerning 2008 and 2009 prices and 
quantities of phosphate rock, and agreed upon 2010 prices and quantities for phosphate rock purchases and sales until the existing 
agreement expires. The terms of the settlement were confidential, and neither OCP nor Innophos Mexico admitted liability, and 
entered into the settlement solely in order to avoid the costs and burdens of continued arbitration.  

The financial impact of the settlement was a $7.1 million pre-tax expense ($5.0 million net of tax) largely recorded in cost of 
goods sold.  

In addition, in connection with the settlement, on February 24, 2010, the parties executed an amendment to their existing 1992 
supply agreement.  

The major features in the amendment, identified as Addendum No. 13 to the 1992 agreement, are the following terms and 
conditions:  

• 2008 and 2009 final prices for phosphate rock are agreed to be the interim prices already paid by Innophos Mexico;  
  

•  2010 final prices and estimated volumes of phosphate rock (until the end of the 1992 agreement scheduled for 
September 10, 2010) are set for Innophos Mexico’s Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz, Mexico plant, together with mutual 
minimum volume commitments for each of the two types of phosphate rock to be supplied;  

• Innophos Mexico is afforded an option to extend the 1992 agreement to December 31, 2010, if the option is exercised by 
July 31, 2010, without additional volume commitments; exclusivity of OCP as a supplier would terminate as of 
September 10, 2010;  

• Innophos Mexico receives an option before September 10, 2010 to purchase limited quantities of third party phosphate 
rock for testing purposes; and  

• The 1992 agreement is revised in a number of other respects, including as to its force majeure provisions, limitations of 
damages and liquidated damages.  

Mexican CNA Water Tax Claims  
Nature and Extent. In November 2004, our Mexican subsidiary, Innophos Fosfatados, or Fosfatados, received notice from the 

CNA of the Fresh Water Claims relating to water usage at our Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz, Mexico plant. As initially assessed, the claims 
extended from 1998-2002, but subsequently the 1998 claim was determined to be beyond the applicable statute of limitations. As now 
assessed, the claims through 2002 total approximately $23.6 million (at current exchange rates as of February 18, 2010), including 
basic charges of $7.1 million and $16.5 million for interest, inflation and penalties. Management believes that Fosfatados has valid 
bases for challenging the Fresh Water Claims, and that matter is being defended vigorously.  

Rhodia Indemnity Confirmed. As a result of favorably concluded litigation in New York state courts against Rhodia, S.A. and 
affiliates, or the New York Litigation, concerning their indemnification obligation for CNA claims as “taxes” under the agreement by 
which we purchased our business from those parties, Innophos is fully indemnified against the Fresh Water Claims, as well as any like 
claims pertaining to periods prior to the closing date of purchase, August 13, 2004, were such liabilities to be sustained.  

Further Proceedings. The Fresh Water Claims are currently pending reconsideration from appeals in the Mexican fiscal court 
system. On October 29, 2009, the Tax Court on remand ruled unfavorably as to all of Fosfatado’s remaining defenses. On January 10, 
2010, Fosfatados appealed the decision of the Tax Court on remand. On January 27, 2010, CNA also filed an appeal challenging the 
prior decision that the CNA claim as to 1998 is beyond the applicable statute of limitations. The timing of a decision on this round of 
appeals is not known.  

A final determination of the Fresh Water Claims may require further appeals to the Mexican Supreme Court and remands to the 
CNA or to lower courts, a process that might continue for several years. In the event that the appeals were to be decided against us and 
Rhodia were then unable to pay on its indemnification obligations, our subsidiary could be required to satisfy a judgment for the entire 
amount claimed.  
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Possible Post-2002 Claims. If the CNA Fresh Water Claims were sustained for the period now at issue, it is possible that the 
CNA would seek to claim similar higher duties, fees and other charges for fresh water extraction and usage from 2005 on into the 
future (2003 and 2004 are believed to be beyond the statute of limitations), or the Post-2002 Fresh Water Claims. Management 
estimates that amounts involved would be approximately $5.8 million of additional basic charges to date at current exchange rates, 
$5.9 million relating to interest, inflation, and penalties, and, under current operating conditions, approximately $0.5 million of 
additional basic charges per year at current exchange rates. Although not included in our court judgments in the New York Litigation 
against Rhodia, we believe Rhodia is required to indemnify us fully for post-closing “losses” caused by breaches of covenants set 
forth in the agreement, which could represent the remainder of the Post-2002 Fresh Water Claims exposure. Rhodia has contested 
indemnification responsibility for those breaches, but its motion for partial summary judgment to dismiss our claims was denied by the 
New York trial court in January 2009. It is possible that the New York Litigation will proceed to trial or involve further motions to 
resolve remaining issues.  

Based upon advice of counsel and our review of the CNA Fresh Water Claims and the Post-2002 Fresh Water Claims, the facts 
and applicable law, management has determined that liability is reasonably possible, but is neither probable nor reasonably estimable. 
Accordingly, we did not establish a liability on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2009. As additional information is gained, 
management will reassess the potential liability and establish any loss reserve as appropriate. The ultimate liability amount could be 
material to our results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, given Rhodia’s financial condition, we cannot be sure we 
will ultimately collect amounts due from Rhodia under our indemnification rights, even though they have been confirmed by court 
judgments.  
  

Mexican Water Discharge Duties  
On August 18, 2009, Fosfatados was served with four resolutions from the CNA seeking water discharge duties, fees and other 

charges relating to the Company’s Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz, Mexico plant for the period 2002-2005 and amounting to a total of $2.5 
million at current exchange rates. The resolutions affirmed that the plant has complied with the relevant parameters in its discharge 
permits, or CPDs, but asserted that Fosfatados did not meet a different set of discharge standards in general duties tables that limit the 
discharge of various contaminants and set fees payable for exceeding those limits.  

On October 21, 2009, Fosfatados filed an annulment proceeding in the Mexican fiscal court system seeking to void the 
resolutions. On January 21, 2010, the Tax Court issued resolutions annulling the CNA resolutions. As the time for appeal has elapsed 
and CNA did not file an appeal, management regards this matter as resolved favorably.  

Other Legal Matters  
In June 2005, our subsidiary, Innophos Canada, Inc., was contacted by representatives of The Mosaic Company (a division of 

Cargill Corporation), or Mosaic, seeking a meeting to discuss the status of an ongoing remedial investigation and clean-up Mosaic is 
conducting at its former fertilizer manufacturing site located north of Innophos’ Pt. Maitland, Ontario Canada plant site. The 
remediation is being overseen by the Provincial Ministry of Environment, or MOE. Mosaic stated that, in its view, we and Rhodia (our 
predecessor in interest prior to August 2004) were responsible for some phosphorus compound contamination at a rail yard between 
the Innophos and Mosaic sites, and will be asked to participate in the clean-up. We have determined that this contingent liability is 
neither probable nor estimable at this time, but liability is reasonably possible. We have notified Rhodia of the Mosaic claim, and we 
will seek all appropriate indemnification.  

In March 2008, Sudamfos S.A., or Sudamfos, an Argentine phosphate producer, filed a request for arbitration before the ICC 
International Court of Arbitration, Paris, France, or ICC, of a commercial dispute with Mexicana. Sudamfos claimed Mexicana agreed 
to sell Sudamfos certain quantities of phosphoric acid for delivery in 2007 and 2008, and sought an order requiring Mexicana to sell 
approximately 12,500 metric tons during 2008 in accordance with the claimed agreement. Subsequently, Sudamfos withdrew the 
request for arbitration. In October 2008, Mexicana filed a lawsuit in Mexico against Sudamfos to collect approximately $1.2 million 
representing the contract price for prior deliveries of acid that Sudamfos had refused to pay. In October 2009, Sudamfos answered the 
suit and counterclaimed for $3.0 million based upon the agreement alleged in the arbitration request to sell additional acid, which 
agreement Mexicana denies. Management has determined that the outstanding receivable is fully collectible, and that the contingent 
liability from the Sudamfos counterclaim is remote, and therefore no accrual is required.  

In addition, we are party to legal proceedings and contractual disputes that arise in the ordinary course of our business. Except 
as to the matters specifically discussed, management does not believe that these matters represent probable liabilities. However, these 
matters cannot be predicted with certainty and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of them could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and/or cash flows.  
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17. Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risks:  

The carrying value of our Senior Subordinated Notes and our Senior Unsecured Notes are $190.0 million and $56.0 million, 
respectively. The fair values at December 31, 2009 (excluding accrued interest) are approximately $192.9 million and $56.8 million, 
respectively.  

The Company believes that its concentration of credit risk related to trade accounts receivable is limited since these receivables 
are spread among a number of customers and are geographically dispersed. The ten largest customers accounted for 40%, 40% and 
39%, respectively, of net sales for 2009, 2008 and 2007. During 2008 a single customer represented 11% of our sales, otherwise, no 
other customer accounted for more than 10% of our sales in the last 3 years.  
  
18. Valuation Allowances:  

Valuation allowances as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, and the changes in the valuation allowances for the year ended 
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:  
  
      

  

Balance, 
January 1,

2009  
  

Charged/
(credited)

to costs
and 

expenses 
  

Deductions 
(Bad debts)  

  

(Credited) 
to Goodwill 

  

Balance, 
December 31, 

2009  
  

Deferred taxes valuation allowances   $ 4,813 $ 850 $ —   $ —   $ 5,663  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   —    —    —    —    —    
  
      

  

Balance, 
January 1, 

2008  
  

Charged/ 
(credited) 

to costs 
and 

expenses  
  

Deductions 
(Bad debts)  

  

(Credited) 
to Goodwill  

  

Balance, 
December 31, 

2008  
  

Deferred taxes valuation allowances    $ 26,929 $(22,116 ) $ —   $ —   $ 4,813  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   —    —   —     —    —    
  
      

  

Balance, 
January 1, 

2007  
  

Charged/ 
(credited) 

to costs 
and 

expenses  
  

Deductions 
(Bad debts)  

  

(Credited) 
to Goodwill  

  

Balance, 
December 31, 

2007  
  

Deferred taxes valuation allowances  $16,557    $10,372 $ —    $ —   $ 26,929  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   1,318   —    (1,318)  —    —    
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19. Segment Reporting:  

The company discloses certain financial and supplementary information about its reportable segments, revenue by products and 
revenues by geographic area. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial 
information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, in order to decide how to allocate resources and assess 
performance. The primary performance indicators for the chief operating decision maker are sales and operating income, with sales on 
a ship-from basis. The Company reports its operations in three reporting segments—United States, Mexico and Canada, each of which 
sells the entire portfolio of products.  
  

      

For the year ended December 31, 2009 
  

United States 
  

Mexico  
  

Canada  
  

Eliminations 
  

Total  
  

Sales  $ 463,286 $165,269 $ 38,204  $ —   $ 666,759 
Intersegment sales   64,427  21,240  75,153   (160,820)  —   

            

Total sales   527,713  186,509  113,357   (160,820)  666,759 
            

Operating income  $ 111,647 $ 614 $ 14,629   —   $ 126,890 
            

      

Other data 
            

Capital expenditures  $ 13,208 $ 5,513 $ 888  $ —   $ 19,609 
Long-lived assets   99,844  89,585  15,098   —    204,527 
Total assets   878,008  260,687  297,423   —    1,436,118 
      

Reconciliation of total assets to reported assets  
            

Total assets  $ 878,008 $260,687 $ 297,423  $ —   $ 1,436,118 
Eliminations   (524,933)  (6,841)  (241,876)  —    (773,650)

            

Reported assets  $ 353,075 $253,846 $ 55,547  $ —   $ 662,468 
            

      

For the year ended December 31, 2008 
  

United States 
  

Mexico  
  

Canada  
  

Eliminations 
  

Total  
  

Sales  $ 486,186 $409,745 $ 38,827  $ —   $ 934,758 
Intersegment sales   28,999  29,965  63,820   (122,784)  —   

            

Total sales   515,185  439,710  102,647   (122,784)  934,758 
            

Operating income  $ 108,743 $183,587 $ 6,525   —   $ 298,855 
            

      

Other data 
            

Capital expenditures  $ 11,574 $ 4,779 $ 2,183  $ —   $ 18,536 
Long-lived assets   111,349  102,912  16,161   —    230,422 
Total assets   870,038  312,297  205,398   —    1,387,733 
      

Reconciliation of total assets to reported assets  
            

Total assets  $ 870,038 $312,297 $ 205,398  $ —   $ 1,387,733 
Eliminations   (492,357)  —    (167,172)  —    (659,529)

            

Reported assets  $ 377,681 $312,297 $ 38,226  $ —   $ 728,204 
            

      

For the year ended December 31, 2007 
  

United States 
  

Mexico  
  

Canada  
  

Eliminations 
  

Total  
  

Sales  $ 326,882 $222,699 $ 29,401  $ —   $ 578,982 
Intersegment sales   26,239  24,560  57,002   (107,801)  —   

            

Total sales   353,121  247,259  86,403   (107,801)  578,982 
            

Operating income  $ 3,299 $ 39,819 $ 4,591   —   $ 47,709 
            

      

Other data 
            

Capital expenditures  $ 7,275 $ 18,999 $ 2,082  $ —   $ 28,356 
Long-lived assets   125,914  118,423  16,226   —    260,563 
Total assets   588,025  222,839  137,777   —    948,641 
      

Reconciliation of total assets to reported assets  
            

Total assets  $ 588,025 $222,839 $ 137,777  $ —   $ 948,641 
Eliminations   (301,711)  (902)  (103,329)  —    (405,942)

            

Reported assets  $ 286,314 $221,937 $ 34,448  $ —   $ 542,699 
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Year Ended December 31,  

  

Product Revenues 
  

2009  
  

2008  
  

2007  
  

Purified Phosphoric Acid  $ 121,328 $ 251,656 $ 128,882 
Specialty Salts and Acids   443,112  449,878  293,389 
STPP & Other Products   102,319  233,224  156,711 

        

Total  $ 666,759 $ 934,758 $ 578,982 
        

  
    

  
Year Ended December 31,  

  

Geographic Revenues 
  

2009  
  

2008  
  

2007  
  

US  $ 385,037 $ 451,082 $ 303,941 
Mexico   144,168  250,034  131,811 
Canada   38,258  39,669  31,109 
Other foreign countries   99,296  193,973  112,121 

        

Total  $ 666,759 $ 934,758 $ 578,982 
        

Revenues for the geographic information are attributed to geographic areas based on the destination of the sale.  
Intersegment sales are recorded based on established transfer price.  
Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment.  
The United States had depreciation and amortization of $28.5 million, $30.3 million, and $28.4 million in 2009, 2008, and 2007, 

respectively. Canada had depreciation and amortization of $2.0 million, $2.2 million, and $1.5 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. Mexico had depreciation and amortization of $20.7 million, $20.0 million, and $17.5 million in 2009, 2008, and 2007, 
respectively.  

20. Quarterly information (unaudited):  
  

        

  
2009  

  

  
Quarters ended  

  

  
March 31 

  
June 30  

    
September 30  

  
December 31, 

    
Total  

  

Net sales  $190,817 $166,766   $ 161,934 $ 147,242   $ 666,759
Gross profit   69,793  49,395  47,730  29,061  (b)  195,979
Net income   30,244  17,609 (a)  15,133  158  (b)  63,144
Per share data:             

Income per share:             

Basic  $ 1.43 $ 0.83 (a) $ 0.71 $ 0.01  (b)   

Diluted  $ 1.39 $ 0.81 (a) $ 0.69 $ 0.01  (b)   

  
  

2008  
  

  
Quarters ended  

  

  
March 31 

  
June 30  

    
September 30  

  
December 31, 

    
Total  

  

Net sales  $162,538 $264,000   $ 291,772 $ 216,448   $ 934,758
Gross profit   40,707  107,865    126,583  89,427  (c)  364,582
Net income   9,256  59,287    79,652  58,988  (d)  207,183
Per share data:               

Income per share:               

Basic  $ 0.44 $ 2.84   $ 3.79 $ 2.80  (d)   

Diluted  $ 0.43 $ 2.74   $ 3.62 $ 2.71  (d)   

(a) Includes a $3.5 million, $2.3 million after tax, gain on the retirement of $10.0 million of the 9.5% Senior Unsecured Notes due 
April 2012.  

(b) Includes an approximate $7.0 million, $5.0 million after tax, charge for the settlement of the OCP arbitration matter.  
(c) Includes a $3.9 million, $2.5 million after tax, out of period benefit for certain adjustments related to deferred Mexican 

employee statutory profit sharing.  
(d) Includes a $14.4 million benefit from the reversal of valuation allowances against U.S. Federal net deferred tax assets mainly as 

the result of the usage of our net operating loss carryforwards and a $2.5 million after tax out of period benefit related to 
deferred Mexican employee statutory profit sharing and deferred income taxes.  
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 

DISCLOSURE  
None.  

ITEM  9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
Disclosure Control and Procedures  
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be reported in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements and filings is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the periods specified in the rules 
and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, with the participation of management, concluded that the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures are effective.  

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s 
internal control framework and processes are designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and the Board of Directors 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with United States generally accepted accounting principles.  

As of December 31, 2009, management conducted an assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on the framework established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control 
— Integrated Framework. Based on the assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2009, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting is effective at the reasonable assurance level.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during or with respect to the fourth quarter of 2009 

that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

ITEM  9B. OTHER INFORMATION  
None.  
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PART III  

ITEM  10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
The information required by this Item relating to Directors and Corporate Governance is set forth under the captions “The Board 

of Directors and its Committees—Board Committees”, “The Board of Directors and its Committees—Audit Committee”, 
“Proposals—Election of Board Members”, “The Board of Directors and its Committees—Other Corporate Governance Matters”, “The 
Board of Directors and its Committees—Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee”, “Policy on Communications from 
Security Holders and Interested Parties” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Compliance” in the registrant’s Proxy Statement to 
be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the 2010 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by reference.  

The information required by this item relating to Executive Officers is set forth in Item 1 under the caption “Executive Officers” 
and is herein incorporated by reference.  

ITEM  11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  
The information required by this Item is set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation”, “The Board of Directors and its 

Committees—Compensation of Directors” and “The Board of Directors and its Committees—Compensation Committee Interlocks 
and Insider Participation” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM  12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” 
and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM  13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  
The information required by this Item is set forth under the caption “The Board of Directors and its Committees—Director 

Independence”, “Executive Compensation—Certain Transactions” and “Policy With Respect to Related Person Transactions” in the 
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM  14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES  
The information required by this Item is set forth under the caption “Information Regarding the Independence of the 

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

PART IV  

ITEM  15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

(a) Exhibits. The following exhibits are filed as part of this 10-K.  

See the attached Exhibit Index.  

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.  

Schedule I—Condensed Financial Information of the Registrant.  
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC.  

INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC.  

Condensed Balance Sheets  
(Dollars in thousands)  

  
   

  
December 31,  

  

  
2009  

  
2008  

  

ASSETS     

Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 213 $ 674 
Accounts receivable due from affiliates   6,916  5,994 
Inventories   —   —   
Other current assets   1,558  1,558 

      

Total current assets   8,687  8,226 
Property, plant and equipment, net   —   —   
Goodwill   —   —   
Investment in subsidiaries   347,242  304,462 
Intangibles and other assets, net   706  1,195 

      

Total assets  $ 356,635 $ 313,883 
      

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

Current liabilities:     

Current portion of long-term debt  $ —  $ —   
Accounts payable   —   17 
Other current liabilities   4,735  4,892 

      

Total current liabilites   4,735  4,909 
Long-term debt   56,000  66,000 
Other long-term liabilities   522  214 

      

Total liabilities   61,257  71,123 
Commitments and contingencies     

Stockholders’ equity   295,378  242,760 
      

Total stockholders’ equity   295,378  242,760 
      

Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity  $ 356,635 $ 313,883 
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC.  

Condensed Statements of Operations  
(Dollars in thousands)  

  
    

  
Year Ended December 31,  

  

  
2009  

  
2008  

  
2007  

  

Net sales  $ —    $ —   $ —   
Cost of goods sold   —     —    —   

        

Gross profit   —     —    —   
        

Operating expenses:       

Selling, general and administrative   6   232  284 
Research & development expenses   —     —    —   

        

Total operating expenses   6   232  284 
        

Operating loss   (6)  (232)  (284)
Interest expense, net   2,574   6,624  4,471 
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses   —     —    —   
Other expense (income), net   —     —    —   
Equity (income) loss   (63,596)  (210,081)  732 

        

Income (loss) before income taxes   61,016   203,225  (5,487)
Provision for income taxes   (2,128)  (3,958)  —   

        

Net income (loss)  $ 63,144  $ 207,183 $ (5,487)
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INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC.  

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows  
(Dollars in thousands)  

  
    

  
Year Ended December 31,  

  

  
2009  

  
2008  

  
2007  

  

Cash flows from operating activities       

Net income (loss)  $ 63,144  $ 207,183 $ (5,487)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used for operating activities:        

Amortization of deferred financing charges   489   363  257 
Gain on retirement of bonds   (3,500)  —    —   
Equity (income) loss   (63,596)  (210,081)  732 

Changes in assets and liabilities:         

Increase in accounts receivable   (922)  (5,994)  —   
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable   (17)  17  (17)
(Decrease)/increase in other current assets and liabilities    (199)  (1,558)  1,306 
Changes in other long-term assets and liabilities   308   214  (107)

        

Net cash used for operating activities   (4,293)  (9,856)  (3,316)
        

Cash flows provided from (used for) investing activities:       

Investment in subsidiaries   24,143   24,169  (51,002)
        

Net cash provided from (used for) investing activities   24,143   24,169  (51,002)
        

Cash flows (used for) provided from financing activities:       

Capital contribution   635   542  950 
Proceeds from issuance of senior unsecured notes   —     —    66,000 
Principal repayment of senior unsecured notes   (6,500)  —    —   
Deferred financing costs   —     —    (1,815)
Dividends paid   (14,446)  (14,241)  (12,899)

        

Net cash (used for) provided from financing activities   (20,311)  (13,699)  52,236 
        

Net change in cash   (461)  614  (2,082)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   674   60  2,142 

        

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 213  $ 674 $ 60 
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Basis of Presentation  

Innophos Holdings, Inc.(“Company”) is a holding company that conducts substantially all of its business operations through its 
subsidiaries.  

There are significant restrictions on the Company’s ability to obtain funds from any of its subsidiaries through dividends, loans 
or advances. Accordingly, the condensed financial statements have been presented on a “parent-only” basis. Under a parent-only 
presentation, the Company’s investments in its consolidated subsidiaries are presented under the equity method of accounting. These 
parent-only financial statements should be read in conjunction with Innophos Holdings, Inc. audited consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere herein.  

Debt  
On April 16, 2007, Innophos Holdings, Inc. issued Senior Unsecured Notes for the purpose of redeeming Innophos Investments 

Holdings, Inc. Floating Rate Senior Notes. Innophos Holdings, Inc. subsidiaries also have debt. For a discussion of the debt 
obligations of Innophos Holdings, Inc.’s subsidiaries, see Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data”.  

Income Taxes  
The Company is a member of a U.S. consolidated income tax return. The Company generates net operating losses which can be 

used by Innophos, Inc. in the U.S. consolidated income tax return. Therefore, the benefit recorded for income taxes in 2009 includes 
the reversal of the valuation allowance attributable to net operating losses which will be realizable by Innophos, Inc. The tax amounts 
established for the use of these losses are recorded through intercompany accounts which will cash settle.  

Commitments and Contingencies  
Innophos Holdings, Inc. has no direct commitments and contingencies, but its subsidiaries have direct commitments and 

contingencies. For a discussion of the commitments and contingencies of Innophos Holdings, Inc.’s subsidiaries, see Note 16 of Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”.  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Innophos Holdings, Inc. has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized on the 8th day of March, 2010.  
  

  

INNOPHOS HOLDINGS, INC. 
  
By: /S/ RANDOLPH GRESS         

  
Randolph Gress 

  
Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on 
behalf of Innophos Holdings, Inc. and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
  
   

Signatures 
  

Title 
  

Dates 
  

   
/S/ RANDOLPH GRESS         

  

Randolph Gress 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ NEIL I. SALMON          

  

Neil I. Salmon 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ CHARLES BRODHEIM         

  

Charles Brodheim 
Corporate Controller 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ GARY CAPPELINE         

  

Gary Cappeline 
Director March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ AMADO CAVAZOS         

  

Amado Cavazos 
Director March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ LINDA MYRICK         

  

Linda Myrick 
Director March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ KAREN OSAR         

  

Karen Osar 
Director March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ JOHN STEITZ         

  

John Steitz 
Director March 8, 2010 

   
/S/ STEPHEN ZIDE         

  

Stephen Zide 
Director March 8, 2010 
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EXHIBIT INDEX  

  
  

Exhibit No. 
  

Description 
  

  

   2.1 Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 2004 among Rhodia, Inc., Rhodia Canada Inc., Rhodia de Mexico, S.A. de C.V., 
Rhodia Overseas Limited, Rhodia Consumer Specialties Limited, Rhodia, S.A. and Innophos, Inc. (f/k/a Phosphates 
Acquisition, Inc.), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Registration Statement 333-129951 on Form S-4 of 
Innophos, Inc. filed November 23, 2005 
 

   3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Innophos Holdings, Inc. incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 of Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement 333-135851 on Form S-1 of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed 
October 30, 2006 
 

   3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Innophos Holdings, Inc. as of November 30, 2007 incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 99.1/99.2B of Form 8-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed December 6, 2007 
 

   4.1 Form of Common Stock certificate incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Amendment No. 4 to Registration 
Statement 333-135851 on Form S-1 of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed October 30, 2006 
 

   4.2 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of August 13, 2004 by and between Innophos Holdings, Inc., the entities set 
forth on Schedule I attached thereto and the other individuals signatory thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 
of Registration Statement No. 333-129951 on Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed November 23, 2005 
 

   4.3 Indenture by and between Innophos Holdings, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee dated as of April 
16, 2007 relating to 9  1/2 % Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 8-K of 
Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed April 17, 2007 
 

   4.4 Purchase Agreement dated April 11, 2007 between Innophos Holdings, Inc. and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form 8-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed April 17, 2007 
 

   4.5 Indenture by and between Innophos, Inc., and Wachovia Bank, National Association, dated as of August 13, 2004 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registration Statement 333-129951 on Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed 
November 23, 2005 
 

   4.6 Guarantee dated as of August 13, 2004 among Innophos, Inc., Innophos Mexico Holdings, LLC and Wachovia Bank, 
National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Registration Statement 333-129951 on Form S-4 of 
Innophos, Inc. filed November 23, 2005 
 

   4.7 Loan and Security Agreement dated May 22, 2009 by and among Innophos, Inc. and Innophos Canada, Inc., as 
Borrowers, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, TD Bank, N.A. and Israel Discount Bank, Wachovia Bank, 
National Association, as Administrative and Collateral Agent for Lenders, and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC, as 
Syndication Agent, Lead Arranger and Lead Bookrunner, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K of 
Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed May 27, 2009. 
 

   10.1 Supply Agreement (Sulphuric Acid) dated as of August 13, 2004 between Rhodia, Inc. and Innophos, Inc. incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Annual Report on Form 10-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 
31, 2007 
 

   10.2 Agreement dated as of September 10, 1992 by and between Office Cherifien Des Phosphates and Troy Industrias S.A. 
de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 4 of Registration Statement 333-129951 on 
Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed February 14, 2006 
 

   10.3 Addendum No. 7 dated June 5, 2002 to Agreement dated as of September 10, 1992 by and between Office Cherifien 
Des Phosphates and Troy Industrias S.A. de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K of Innophos 
Holdings, Inc. filed July 21, 2008 
 

   10.4 Purchasing Agreement between Innophos, Inc. and Mississippi Lime Company dated March 11, 2008, with redactions 
subject to pending confidential treatment request. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Annual Report on Form 
10-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2007 
 

   10.5 Amended and Restated Purified Wet Phosphoric Acid Supply Agreement dated as of March 23, 2000 by and between 
Rhodia, Inc. and PCS Purified Phosphates incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 4 of 
Registration Statement 333-129951 on Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed February 14, 2006 
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  10.6 Amended and Restated Acid Purchase Agreement dated as of March 23, 2000 among Rhodia, Inc., PCS Sales (USA), 

Inc. and PCS Nitrogen Fertilizer L.P incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 4 of Registration 
Statement 333-129951 on Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed February 14, 2006 
 

  10.7 Base Agreement dated as of September 1, 2003 by and between Pemex-Gas y Petroquimica Basica and Rhodia 
Fosfatados De Mexico S.A. de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 4 of Registration 
Statement 333-129951 on Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed February 14, 2006 
 

  10.8 Purchase and Sale Agreement of Anhydrous Ammonia dated as of February 15, 2008 , by and between Pemex 
Petroquimica, and Innophos Fosfatados De Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of 
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Innophos Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2008 
 

  10.9 Sulfur Supply Contract dated as of August 1, 2007 by and Between Pemex Gas Y Petroquimica Basica and Innophos 
Fosfatados de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Annual Report on Form 10-K/A 
of Innophos Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2008 
 

  10.10 Supply Agreement dated as of June 18, 1998 by and among Colgate Palmolive Company, Inmobiliaria Hills, S.A. de 
C.V., and Rhone-Poulenc de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of Registration Statement 
333-129951 on Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed November 23, 2005 
 

  10.11 Operations Agreement made as of the 18th day of June, 1998 by and among Mission Hills, S.A. de C.V, Inmobiliaria 
Hills. S.A. de C.V., and Rhone-Poulenc de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of 
Registration Statement 333-129951 on Form S-4 of Innophos, Inc. filed November 23, 2005 
 

  10.12 Form of Memorandum of Agreement dated January 30, 2009 by and between Innophos, Inc. and Colgate Palmolive 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. and Innophos, Inc. filed February 5, 
2009 
 

  10.13 Form of Individual Employment Agreement for executive officers of Innophos Servicios de Mexico, S. de R.L. de 
C.V., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K of Innophos 
Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2007 
 

  10.14 Form of Executive Employment Agreement by and between Innophos Holdings, Inc. and certain executive officers 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.13 of Form 8-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed May 1, 2008 
 

  10.15 Innophos Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 Executive Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.28 to Amendment No. 4 of Registration Statement 333-135851 on Form S-1 of Innophos, Inc. filed October 30, 
2006 
 

  10.16 Innophos, Inc. Executive, Management and Sales Incentive Plan effective January 1, 2007, incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.17 of Annual Report on Form 10-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2007 
 

  10.17 Form of Retention Bonus Agreement dated as of October 18, 2006 by and among Innophos Holdings, Inc., and senior 
management employees incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of Registration Statement No. 333-139623 on Form S-
8 of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed December 22, 2006 
 

  10.18 Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and among Innophos Holdings, Inc. and certain Directors and Executive 
Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of Form 8-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed January 31, 2007 
 

  10.19 Form of 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Amendment No. 4 of 
Registration Statement 333-135851 on Form S-1 of Innophos, Inc. filed October 30, 2006 
 

  10.20 Form of Award Agreement under 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of 
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Innophos Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2008 
 

  10.21 Form of 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2009 LTIP) incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K of 
Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed June 4, 2009 
 

  10.22 Form of Award Agreement under the 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of Form 
S-8 of Innophos Holdings, Inc. filed June 15, 2009 
 

  10.23 Form of Innophos, Inc. Retirement Savings Restoration Plan effective as of January 1, 2006, incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.29 of Annual Report on Form 10-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2006. 
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  10.24 Addendum No. 13 dated February 4, 2010 to Agreement dated as of September 10, 1992 by and between OCP, S.A. 

and Innophos Mexicana, S.A. de C.V. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K of Innophos Holdings, 
Inc. filed February 4, 2010 (Filed in redacted form pending request for confidential treatment submitted to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.) 
 

  12.1 Statement re: Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges, filed herewith  
 

  21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 of Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Innophos 
Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2008 
 

  23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP filed herewith 
 

  31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer dated March 8, 2010 pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 filed herewith 
 

  31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer dated March 8, 2010 pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 filed herewith 
 

  32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer dated March 8, 2010 pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 filed herewith 
 

  32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer dated March 8, 2010 pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 filed herewith 

Pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, agreements and instruments evidencing the rights of holders of 
debt whose total amount does not exceed 10 percent of the total assets of the registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis are 
not being filed as exhibits to this report. The registrant has agreed to furnish a copy of such agreements and instruments to the 
Commission upon its request.  
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Exhibit 12.1  

Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges  
  

      

  
December 31,  

  

(dollars in thousands) 
  

2009  
  

2008  
  

2007  
  

2006  
  

2005  
  

Earnings           

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes  $ 104,346 $ 262,385 $ 6,409  $ (26,904) $ (4,969)
Plus: fixed charges (1)   29,067  37,303  44,345   62,531  49,766 

              

$ 133,413 $ 299,688 $ 50,754  $ 35,627 $ 44,797 
            

Fixed Charges:           

Gross interest expense   27,354  35,565  42,866   61,019  47,991 
Estimate of the interest within operating leases   1,713  1,738  1,479   1,512  1,775 

              

$ 29,067 $ 37,303 $ 44,345  $ 62,531 $ 49,766 
            

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges   4.6 x  8.0 x          1.1x  *  * 
            

(1) For purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings represent income before income taxes plus fixed 
charges. Fixed charges consist of interest expense and one-third of operating rental expenses which management believes is 
representative of the interest component of rent expense.  

* Due to the losses for 2006 and 2005 the coverage ratio was less than 1:1. Innophos must generate additional earnings of $26,904 
for 2006 and $4,969 for 2005, respectively, to achieve a ratio of 1:1 for those periods.  
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Exhibit 23.1  

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-139623) of Innophos 
Holdings, Inc. of our report dated March 8, 2010 relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule and the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Florham Park, NJ  
March 8, 2010  
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Exhibit 31.1  

CERTIFICATIONS  

I, Randolph Gress, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. (“the registrant”);  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

  
    

    
Dated: March 8, 2010   

By: /S/    RANDOLPH GRESS 
      

Randolph Gress 
  

  

  
Chief Executive Officer and Director 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
  

85



 
Exhibit 31.2  

I, Neil I. Salmon, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Innophos Holdings, Inc. (“the registrant”);  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial information; and  

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

  
    

    
Dated: March 8, 2010   

By: /S/    NEIL I. SALMON 
      

Neil I. Salmon 
  

  

  
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 
  

86



 
Exhibit 32.1  

Certification Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350)  

I, Randolph Gress, certify that:  

1. the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (the “Report”), fully complies with 
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of Innophos Holdings, Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated.  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided Innophos Holdings, Inc. and will be 
retained by Innophos Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.  

Date: March 8, 2010  
  

 

/S/     RANDOLPH GRESS 
  

Randolph Gress 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a 
part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.  
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Exhibit 32.2  

Certification Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350)  

I, Neil I. Salmon, certify that:  

1. the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (the “Report”), fully complies with 
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and  

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of Innophos Holdings, Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated.  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided Innophos Holdings, Inc. and will be 
retained by Innophos Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.  

Date: March 8, 2010  
  

 

/S/     NEIL I. SALMON 
  

Neil I. Salmon 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a 
part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.  
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Transfer Agent and Registrar
Wells Fargo 

Independent Registered  

Public Accounting Firm 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Corporate Locations  

USA (Corporate Headquarters)
Innophos Holdings, Inc.
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Bosques de los Ciruelos 186

Piso 11

Colonia Bosques de las Lomas

Delegacion Miguel Hidalgo

11700 Mexico, D.F.
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